**RECEIVED**

**Dec 04 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Kristi F. Curtis, Circuit Court Judge  
Case No.: 2022-CP-26-06296

---

Appellate Case No. 2024-000786  
Order Dismissing Appeal, Dated August 14, 2024

---

Anna Coggeshall; Bryan Coggeshall; and Katherine Coggeshall .....Respondents

v.

William Bertram von Herrmann and The Von Herrmann Law Firm. .... Petitioners

---

**PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

Douglas W. MacKelcan, Esq.  
S.C. Bar No.: 76332  
Skyler C. Wilson, Esq.  
S.C. Bar No.: 102865  
40 Calhoun Street, Suite 400  
Charleston, SC 29401

**QUESTION PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

1. Did the Court of Appeals err in dismissing the appeal as interlocutory when the appealed circuit court's order purported to strike or otherwise prevent Petitioners from litigating the attorney-immunity defense?

**SPECIAL CONSIDERATIONS FOR GRANTING WRIT UNDER RULE 242(B), SCACR**

In the midst of a domestic relations dispute concerning child custody, a father photographed from the mother's smart watch text messages between Respondents, who are the child's mother and the mother's parents. The father hired Petitioner von Hermann and his law firm to bring a civil suit against the mother and others. Upon discovering the photographed text messages, Respondents filed a separate suit against Petitioners based on Petitioners' actions in representing the father, claiming Petitioners invaded Respondents' privacy and violated the S.C. Homeland Security Act (Act) by using or disclosing in litigation text messages they claim were intercepted.

Because attorneys are immune from third-party claims in precisely these circumstances under *Gaar*, Petitioners moved to dismiss Respondents' claims. The circuit court agreed in part and dismissed the invasion of privacy claims. Refusing to dismiss the claim under the Act, however, the circuit court opined on a novel question of law that the Act abrogated the attorney-immunity defense. But the circuit court went too far in its order, holding Petitioners "cannot assert the attorney-immunity defense going forward."

Petitioners appealed the order, but the Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal as interlocutory without explanation or guidance, string citing authorities culminating in the holding

that a “denial of a motion to dismiss does not establish the law of the case and the issue raised by the motion can be raised again at a later stage of the proceedings.”

On the one hand, the circuit court ruling purports to establish the law of the case and effectively strike the attorney-immunity defense. This ruling requires immediate appeal to correct the error and allow Petitioners to litigate the defense. On the other hand, the Court of Appeals’ ruling implies Petitioners can raise the defense later because it was made within an order denying a motion to dismiss. This ruling conflicts with the circuit court and, essentially, directs Petitioners (and subsequent circuit court judges) to ignore the circuit court’s order and continue to litigate the defense.

As a result of the conflicting rulings, Petitioners are in unenviable position that exposes an apparent ambiguity in appealability law: what happens when a circuit court makes a ruling that by its content (finally decides a defense) is immediately appealable but in its form (an order denying a motion to dismiss) is not immediately appealable. This Court should grant this Petition to address this issue in appealability law. If granted and this Court agrees with Petitioners, this Court should reverse and remand the case to the Court of Appeals for the appeal to continue and decide the novel question of whether the Act abrogates the common law defense of attorney immunity. Alternatively, this Court could reverse the Court of Appeals and certify the case for its own review under Rule 204(b), SCACR, or decide the novel issue out of judicial economy.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Respondents sued Petitioners asserting liability for the use and disclosure of Respondents’ electronic communications that Petitioners were provided by their client, Justin Fulmer, who shares a daughter with Respondent Anna. Respondents assert Petitioners used the electronic communications to bring a lawsuit against the Respondents on Mr. Fulmer’s behalf (Fulmer

Action). Respondents allege Mr. Fulmer intercepted the electronic communications and Petitioners, with knowledge the information was “unlawfully obtained”, disseminated the material. The Court of Appeals addressed the interception in the Fulmer Action. **See Appx. 64.** The Fulmer Action was tried to verdict in December 2023, and is on appeal.

In the present lawsuit, Respondents originally asserted claims for violation of the South Carolina Homeland Security Act (S.C. Code Ann. § 17-30-10, *et seq.*), the Computer Fraud and Abuse Act (18 U.S.C. § 1030), and Invasion of Privacy for publicizing private affairs and for wrongful intrusion and outrage. Petitioners removed the case to federal court based on the federal claim and moved to dismiss based on the defense of attorney immunity. Respondents quickly voluntarily dismissed the federal claim to deprive the federal court of jurisdiction. As a result, the federal court remanded the case and did not rule on the motion to dismiss.

On remand, the circuit court granted in part and denied in part Petitioners’ motion to dismiss. **Appx. 8.** The court ruled that attorney immunity barred Respondents’ claims for Invasion of Privacy. **Appx. 8.** The court noted that the Amended Complaint made clear Attorney von Herrmann’s allegedly wrongful actions took place while he was representing Mr. Fulmer. **c** Because the Amended Complaint did not allege Petitioners breached an independent duty to Respondents, or that Petitioners acted in their own interest and outside the scope of representing Mr. Fulmer, Petitioners were protected by the attorney immunity defense. **Appx. 11.**

The only surviving claim was Respondents’ claim under the South Carolina Homeland Security Act (Act) for using or disclosing intercepted communications. As a matter of law on a novel issue, the circuit court ruled attorney immunity does not apply to claims under the Act, and found Petitioners “cannot assert the defense going forward.” **See Appx. 12-13.** Petitioners timely

appealed the order, primarily based on the troubling finding preventing Petitioners from asserting the defense going forward. **Appx. 1.**

Respondents then moved to dismiss the appeal, arguing that the orders are not immediately appealable. **Appx. 37.** Petitioners responded, asserting the holding that they could not assert the defense moving forward made the order immediately appealable. **Appx. 72.** The Court granted Respondents' motion to dismiss on August 14, 2024, by summary reference to authorities without an express opinion on the effect of the circuit court barring Petitioners from asserting the attorney immunity defense. **Appx. 33.** Petitioners asked the Court of Appeals to rehear the matter, but it refused. **Appx. 113; 35.** Petitioners respectfully petition this Court to grant certiorari, reverse the Court of Appeals and find the issue immediately appealable.

#### ARGUMENT

**I. This Court should grant the petition for certiorari and reverse the Court of Appeals because the circuit court's order is immediately appealable by statute, this appeal is distinguishable from cases finding denials of motions to dismiss not immediately appealable, and granting the petition favors judicial economy.**

The right to appeal is governed by statute. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330. When determining immediate appealability, our courts are bound to examine “the effect of the order, not the label given to the motion or to the order granting it.” *Thornton v. S.C. Elec. & Gas Corp.*, 391 S.C. 297, 303, 705 S.E.2d 475, 479 (Ct. App. 2011). Thus, while a denial of a motion to dismiss is generally not immediately appealable, if the effect of the order falls within the 14-3-330 then the order is appealable despite its name. Further, this Court can grant certiorari to address novel issues in the interest of judicial economy, which here favors deciding the novel issues of appealability and application of the attorney immunity defense under the Act.

**a. The Court of Appeals ignored the effect of the circuit court's order that purported to strike the attorney immunity defense, making the order immediately appealable under section 14-3-330.**

Section 14-3-330(1) of the South Carolina Code permits appeal of “[a]ny intermediate judgment, order or decree in a law case involving the merits.” Section 14-3-330(2)(c) also permits immediate appeal of an “[a]n order affecting a substantial right made in an action when such order . . . (c) strikes out an answer or any part thereof or any pleading in any action.” An appeal can arise under either or both. *Link v. Sch. Dist. of Pickens Cnty.*, 302 S.C. 1, 6, 393 S.E.2d 176, 178 (1990).

“An order involves the merits under [section]14-3-330(1) when it finally determines some substantial matter forming the whole or part of a cause of action or defense.” *Stone v. Thompson*, 426 S.C. 291, 294, 826 S.E.2d 868, 869-70 (2019) (finding that order determining couple were common-law married was immediately appealable despite the remaining claims for divorce and equitable distribution because the determination of marriage was a substantial part of the causes of action and defenses); *Jefferson v. Gene's Used Cars, Inc.*, 295 S.C. 317, 318, 368 S.E.2d 456, 456 (1988).

“An order affects a substantial right [under 14-3-330(2)(C)] by striking a pleading if the order removes a material issue from the case, thereby preventing the issue from being litigated on the merits, and preventing the party from seeking to correct any errors in the order during or after trial.” *Thornton*, 391 S.C. at 304, 705 S.E.2d at 479. In determining whether an order “strikes” a material issue from the case, the court must examine “the effect of the order, not the label given to the motion or to the order granting it.” *Id.* at 303, 705 S.E.2d at 479. “If the circuit court errs in striking out any material allegations of a good cause of action or good defense, *it is impossible to remedy it in the course of the trial*, because the evidence and the issues submitted to the jury cannot be extended beyond the issues made by the pleading, and on appeal from the final judgment this court could not say there was error of law in confining the evidence and charge to the pleadings.”

*Id.* at 303-04, 705 S.E.2d at 479 (emphasis added) (quoting *Bowden v. Powell*, 194 S.C. 482, 484, 10 S.E.2d 8, 9 (1940)). Ultimately, appealability is determined on a case-by-case basis. *Stone*, 426 S.C. at 295, 826 S.E.2d at 870.

As recently as 2015, this Court reaffirmed the principle that a court is free to evaluate the trial court's order for appealability under *Thorton* regardless of what the order says and addressed an order not immediately appealable by name (order bifurcating trial) but appealable in effect. *See Morrow v. Fundamental Long-Term Care Holdings, LLC*, 412 S.C. 534, 539, 773 S.E.2d 144, 147 (2015). In *Morrow*, a nursing home resident sued a nursing home and its parent entities when the resident sustained injuries at the nursing home. *Id.* at 535-36, 773 S.E.2d at 144-45. The parent entities moved to bifurcate trial, which the trial court granted, and stayed trial and discovery against the parent entities while the claims against the nursing home moved forward. *Id.* at 536, 773 S.E.2d at 145. The order, however, also noted that the claims against the parent entities could only proceed if the plaintiff was successful against the nursing home. *Id.* The plaintiff appealed the order bifurcating trial. *Id.* A single judge of the Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal after finding an order bifurcating trial was not immediately appealable. *Id.* The plaintiff petitioned for rehearing and three judge panel of the Court of Appeals denied the petition. *Id.*

The South Carolina Supreme Court, however, granted writ of certiorari and reversed the Court of Appeals. The Court recognized the line of cases holding that an order bifurcating trial is not immediately appealable. *Id.* at 540, 773 S.E.2d at 147. But the Court examined the effect of the order and found it affected a substantial right because the circuit court's ruling misunderstood the claims against the parent entities—the circuit court's finding the plaintiff could proceed against the parent entities only if successful against the nursing home was based on a theory of vicarious liability and overlooked that plaintiff was also proceeding on a theory of direct corporate liability.

*Id.* at 538-39, 773 S.E.2d at 146. Despite its name, the effect of the order implicated a substantial right and was immediately appealable. *Id.* at 539, 773 S.E.2d 146. As a result, this Court reversed the Court of Appeals' order dismissing the case and remanded for a determination on the merits of the appeal. *Id.* at 540, 773 S.E.2d at 147.

Following *Morrow's* guidance, the circuit court's order is immediately appealable because its effect involves the merits and strikes a good defense. The order explicitly states that Petitioners "cannot assert the [attorney immunity] defense going forward." Because the effect of the order prevents Petitioners from asserting the attorney immunity defense during litigation, the order has "finally determined" a substantial matter forming the whole or part of a defense and, therefore, "involves the merits" and is immediately appealable under section 14-3-330(1). *See Stone*, 426 S.C. at 294, 826 S.E.2d at 869-70.

In addition, because the order has the effect of striking a defense and removing that material issue from the case, it affects a substantial right, prevents the issue from being litigated on the merits and, therefore, is appealable under 14-3-330(2)(c). As stated in *Thorton*, the court's ruling that Petitioners cannot assert the defense going forward is impossible to remedy in the course of a trial in this case because the evidence and issues submitted to the jury cannot extend beyond the issues in the pleadings. *Thorton*, 391 S.C. at 303-04, 705 S.E.2d at 479. This deprives the appellate court from being able to evaluate on appeal after trial if there was an error of law confining the evidence and jury charges to the pleadings, which would not include attorney-immunity because the court explicitly stated Petitioners cannot assert the defense moving forward. *Id.* Because Petitioners cannot assert the defense, they are prevented from raising the issue at a later point in time in the case.

The Court of Appeals erred in dismissing the appeal because the decision is based on the name of the circuit court's order rather than its purported effect. By its summary ruling, the Court of Appeals ruled based on the name of the circuit court's order: denial of a motion to dismiss. The Court of Appeals acknowledged that a denial of a motion to dismiss is not immediately appealable, and found the denial of a motion to dismiss does not establish the law of the case and the issue can be raised again later. The Court of Appeals did not, however, address the effect of the order barring Petitioners from asserting the defense of attorney-immunity moving forward. Thus, the Court's reference to only the name of the circuit court's order appears to be a ruling based on the name not the effect of the order.

If instead the Court of Appeals had examined the effect of the order, the order should be immediately appealable under the statute and *Morrow's* guidance because the order affects a substantial right by removing the attorney immunity defense from litigation and *attempts* to establish the law of the case by barring Petitioners from asserting the defense moving forward. Certainly, although an order denying a motion to dismiss is not *supposed* to establish the law of case, the order at issue *purports* to establish the law of the case by finding the Act abrogated the common law attorney immunity defense and barring Petitioners from raising it later.

What Petitioners are left with is an inherent conflict between the Court of Appeals' ruling and the circuit court's order that will undoubtedly lead to issues in this litigation, which warrants this Court granting the petition for writ. The circuit court ruling explicitly forbids Petitioners from raising and continuing to litigate attorney immunity as a defense. But the Court of Appeals' reference to case law regarding the impact of orders denying motions to dismiss implies that Petitioners can raise and litigate the attorney immunity defense. Either the circuit court is right, or the Court of Appeals is right, it cannot be both.

Further, if the Court of Appeals is right and Petitioners can raise the defense, the Court of Appeals is essentially instructing the litigants and subsequent judges in the circuit to ignore the circuit court's ruling on attorney immunity. This is bad for two reasons. First, it sets a dangerous example for future litigation—indicating that a circuit court's ruling on an issue is meaningless and requiring litigants to actively advocate a judge's ruling can be ignored. Second, practically speaking it is difficult to imagine that subsequent judges in the same circuit would actually ignore a prior judge's ruling on an issue to give the litigants a fair chance at litigating the issue later in the case.

In sum, this Court should grant the petition for writ, reverse the Court of Appeals, find that the circuit court's order is immediately appealable under 14-3-330, and remand for the appeal to continue on its merits. In the alternative, as explained more thoroughly below, this Court should take the appeal up for itself under Rule 204(b), SCACR, and out of concerns for judicial economy to decide the novel issue of attorney immunity under the Act.

**b. The circuit court's order is unlike the orders in cases involving denials of motions to dismiss based on other types of immunity.**

As a general matter, denials of motions to dismiss are usually not immediately appealable. And some courts have held that denials of motions to dismiss on other immunity claims are not immediately appealable. *Brown v. Cnty. of Berkeley*, 366 S.C. 354, 361, 622 S.E.2d 533, 537 (2005) (finding denial of individual county council members' motion to dismiss based on absolute immunity was not immediately appealable).

However, orders denying motions to dismiss based on immunity claims are usually not appealable because the order denying the motion to dismiss is not supposed to finally decide anything about a case and the litigants are free to raise the issues at a later point in the case. *Id.* ("Furthermore, the trial court's denial of the individual council members' motion to dismiss does

not preclude the individual council members from raising the issues presented in their motion at a later point in the case.”); *see also Bessinger v. Bi-Lo, Inc.*, 366 S.C. 426, 431, 622 S.E.2d 564, 567 (Ct. App. 2005) (“[D]enial of a Rule 12(b)(6) motion does not establish the law of the case nor does it preclude a party from raising the issue at a later point or points in the case.”).

*Brown* is particularly distinguishable on this point because the Court noted that the circuit court refused to dismiss based on absolute immunity claims “at this early stage,” which at least implied that the council members could raise immunity at a later stage. *Id.* at 359, 622 SE.2d at 536. It is also notable that the *Brown* Court analyzed the scope of immunity under the Tort Claims Act, finding that it is not absolute as the council members claimed but was instead qualified. *Id.* at 361-62, 622 S.E.2d at 537-38. The Court then expressly found “the individual council members will be free to raise such issues as qualified immunity, qualified privilege, and the provisions of the Tort Claims Act, at later stages.” *Id.*

Here, contrary to the circuit court’s indication in *Brown* that the immunity could be raised later in the case, the circuit court expressly ruled that Petitioners cannot continue to raise the defense in this litigation. Further, despite finding the case unappealable, the Court in *Brown* took the time to opine on the immunity claimed, clarifying it was not absolute immunity, and it expressly stated immunity could be raised later. Here, the Court of Appeals did not express any limited opinion on attorney immunity and only implied the defense could be later raised. Thus, *Brown* should not govern appealability in this case. But even if *Brown* was instructive, it should yield at least an express ruling in this case that Petitioners are free to raise attorney immunity at a later stage of the litigation. If that is the case, this Court should grant the petition for writ and expressly find that Petitioners can raise attorney immunity going forward.

- c. This Court should grant the petition and address the novel issue of appealability, and application of attorney immunity under the Act, out of judicial economy and Rule 204(b), SCARC.**

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