RECEIVED

Jan 02 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Kristi F. Curtis, Circuit Court Judge
Case No. 2022-CP-26-06296

Appellate Case No. 2024-000786

Anna Coggeshall, Bryan Coggeshall, and Katherine Coggeshall Respondents,

v.

William Bertram von Herrmann and The von Herrmann Law Firm. Petitioners.

RESPONDENTS' RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Robert E. Lee, Esq., SC Bar No. 63052
P.O. Box 1096
Marion, SC 29571
Tel: (843) 423-1313
Email: rel@rellawfirm.com
Counsel for Respondents

Other Counsel of Record:

Steven M. Abrams, Esq., SC Bar No. 76230
1154 Holly Bend Drive

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

In arguing otherwise, Petitioners incorrectly rely on *Morrow v. Fundamental Long-Term Care Holdings, LLC*, 412 S.C. 534, 773 S.E.2d 144 (2015). However, *Morrow* is easily distinguishable from and, therefore, is inapplicable to the present case.

Unlike Respondents here, the *Morrow* plaintiffs brought two different sets of claims against two diverse groups of defendants. First, the *Morrow*s filed personal injury claims against the nursing home in which plaintiff Lawrence Morrow resided. These claims related to an injury that Lawrence suffered while being assisted in the shower as well as the nursing home's alleged failure

to properly monitor Lawrence's diabetes or care for his pressure wounds. *Id.* at 535-36, 773 S.E.2d at 145. The Morrows also filed separate corporate negligence claims against the owners of the nursing home pertaining to underfunding and corollary issues regarding staffing, training, and nutrition. *Id.* at 536, 773 S.E.2d at 145.

The corporate entities filed a motion to bifurcate the trial between the Morrows' negligence claims against the nursing home and their separate negligence claims against the corporate entities. The trial court granted the motion, "finding that without first proving negligence against the nursing home the Morrows' claims for corporate negligence could not proceed." *Id.* The Morrows appealed, and the court of appeals dismissed the appeal on the grounds that an order granting bifurcation was not immediately appealable. *Id.*

On petition to this Court for writ of certiorari, the order was reversed. This court ruled that the trial court's order was immediately appealable under S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330 because it was "based on a material misunderstanding of [the Morrows'] claims against the [corporate entities]." *Morrow*, 412 S.C. at 538, 773 S.E.2d at 146. Specifically, the trial court's order "conflate[d] the theories of vicarious liability and direct liability by determining the Morrows [could] move forward on their claims against the corporate defendants only if they first recover[ed] against [the nursing home]." *Id.* The trial court incorrectly applied the theory of vicarious liability to the Morrows' claims against the corporate entities when the claims were actually "grounded in direct corporate liability which follows independent, albeit interconnected, duties owed to the Morrows." *Id.* at 539, 773 S.E.2d at 146. By incorrectly considering the Morrows' claims against the corporate entities as dependent on their claims against the nursing home, "the trial court's order effectively grants the [corporate] Entities potential summary judgment on the issues of direct corporate liability." *Id.*

Accordingly, the Supreme Court in *Morrow* concluded that the trial court's order fit "neatly within the statutory provision allowing immediate appeals where a substantial right is implicated. S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330(2)(a). The effect of this order [was] to prevent the Morrows from being architects of their own complaint, and deprive[d] them of bringing their case against the defendant of their own choosing." *Morrow*, 412 S.C. at 539, 773 S.E.2d at 146.

Contrary to Mr. von Herrmann's contentions, *Morrow* differs fundamentally from the present case. Unlike the trial court in *Morrow*, the trial court here did not apply an incorrect legal theory to effectively grant potential summary judgment on the issue of liability against Mr. von Herrmann and his law firm. Instead, the trial court simply determined that the attorney-client privilege and common-law doctrine of attorney immunity did not apply to absolutely shield Mr. von Herrmann from any potential liability to Respondents for violating the South Carolina Homeland Security Act in his prosecution of the Buchannon Action. **Appx. 27-28, 86-87.**

The trial court's Orders do not in any way address the merits of the action. **Appx. 27-28, 86-87.** The trial court did not find or even suggest that Mr. von Herrmann is, in fact, liable for violation of the South Carolina Homeland Security Act. **Appx. 27-28, 86-87.** Instead, the trial court simply precluded Mr. von Herrmann from relying on the attorney-client privilege and common-law doctrine of attorney immunity as end-runs around potential liability. **Appx. 27-28, 86-87.** Under established South Carolina law, Mr. von Herrmann and his law firm should not be granted an interlocutory appeal to revisit those issues. *See Wieters*, 381 S.C. at 332-33, 673 S.E.2d at 418; *Tucker*, 354 S.C. at 577, 582 S.E.2d at 407.

II. PETITIONERS' ATTEMPT TO DISTINGUISH OTHER IMMUNITY CASES IS UNAVAILING

In their Petition, Mr. von Herrmann and his law firm admit that in other immunity cases, South Carolina appellate courts have denied interlocutory appeals of orders denying motions to

dismiss. *See Brown v. Cty. of Berkeley*, 366 S.C. 354, 361, 622 S.E.2d 533, 537 (2005). Even so, Petitioners wrongly contend that the present case is distinguishable because the litigants in the other immunity cases were free to raise the immunity issue at a later point in the case, but Petitioners are not allowed to do so. This argument is fundamentally flawed.

As discussed in Argument Point I, above, the trial court's Orders denying Petitioners' motion to dismiss and denying reconsideration did not address the merits of Respondents' claim that Mr. von Herrmann and his law firm were civilly liable for violating the South Carolina Homeland Security Act in the course of their pursuit of the Buchannon Action. Instead, the trial court's Orders simply allowed the case to go forward. Mr. von Herrmann and his law firm remain free to mount a full defense against the merits of Respondents' statutory claim.

Further, the trial court's initial Order determining that the attorney-client privilege and work-product doctrine are not applicable in this case is an evidentiary ruling. *See Drayton*, 205 S.C. at 108, 31 S.E.2d at 152. As with other evidentiary rulings made by a trial court, Mr. von Herrmann and his law firm have the right to question the correctness of the trial court's ruling in any appeal from the final judgment rendered in the case.

As a practical matter, the only immediate effect of the trial court's Orders is to require Mr. von Herrmann to disclose in pretrial discovery the communications he had with Fulmer regarding the text messages Fulmer intercepted from Respondent Anna Coggeshall's iWatch. As detailed in Argument Part I, above, such discovery orders are not the proper subject of an interlocutory appeal even if it is alleged they intrude upon the attorney-client privilege. *See Wieters*, 381 S.C. at 332-33, 673 S.E.2d at 418; *Tucker*, 354 S.C. at 577, 582 S.E.2d at 407.

Next, Mr. von Herrmann contends that the Court of Appeals should have taken the time to opine on his claim of attorney immunity much like the court in *Brown* addressed qualified

immunity for governmental actors under the Tort Claims Act. Notably, Mr. von Herrmann does not provide any legal authority to support his argument that the lack of discussion on attorney immunity in the Court of Appeals' opinions qualifies as a legitimate basis for this Court's grant of the Petition for Writ of Certiorari.

As discussed in Argument Part I, above, a nonfinal order is immediately appealable only if it meets the qualifications set forth in S.C. Code Ann. § 14-4-330. Mr. von Herrmann fails to show that the Court of Appeals' lack of substantive discussion on common-law attorney immunity affected his substantial rights under § 14-4-330(2) by "discontinu[ing] an action, prevent[ing] an appeal, grant[ing] or refus[ing] a new trial, or strik[ing] out an action or defense." *Edwards*, 369 S.C. at 94, 631 S.E.2d at 530.

Notably, when the trial court denied Petitioners' Motion for Reconsideration of the Order denying their motion to dismiss Respondents' claim for violation of the South Carolina Homeland Security Act, that court issued a lengthy opinion on the merits of the attorney immunity claim. **Appx. 27-28.** Having been persuaded Respondents' reasoning in the matter, the trial court's Order stated:

The controlling statute is extremely broad. This statute mirrors the Federal Wiretap Action in many respects in that it prohibits the interception of electronic communications as well as the disclosure if illegally intercepted communications. The South Carolina Homeland Security Act is the State's equivalent of the Federal Electronic Communication Privacy Act, which also expressly prohibits any evidence derived from the illegally intercepted communication from being entered into evidence in any trial, hearing, or other proceeding before any court. See South Carolina code [sic] § 17-30-65. The only exception for court proceedings is set forth in South Carolina code [sic] § 17-30-75, which allows for disclosure while giving testimony under oath in criminal and jury proceedings. This statute also specifically allows disclosure by SLED to attorneys who are authorized by law to investigate and prosecute certain alleged crimes.

It is illogical for the legislation to specifically carve out this narrow exception while also intending to allow broad common law immunity for disclosure by attorneys in civil and family court narratives.

The court finds that it would be illogical for the legislation to prohibit a pro se individual from disclosing the contents of electronic communications (and to make any such disclosure actionable) while allowing that individual's attorney to take the exact same actions with absolute immunity. Accordingly, the [Petitioners'] Motion for Reconsideration is denied.

Appx. 27-28.

In dismissing Petitioners' appeal as interlocutory, the Court of Appeals let stand the trial court's reasons for denying Petitioners' motion to dismiss. **Appx. 33, 35.** It is reasonable to presume that the Court of Appeals, in declining to contradict or impugn the trial court's Order Denying the Motion to Reconsider in any respect, found no fault with the trial court's analysis and application of law.

In any event, Petitioners have not established a viable basis for this Court to grant their Petition for Writ of Certiorari. As Rule 242(b), SCACR, emphasizes: "A writ of certiorari is not a matter of right, but of sound judicial discretion, and will be granted only where there are special and important reasons." Petitioners have not shown the existence of any "special and important reasons" that would justify immediate review of the trial court's Orders denying their motion to dismiss Respondents' claim for violation of the South Carolina Homeland Security Act.

III. THE COURT'S INTEREST IN JUDICIAL ECONOMY WILL NOT BE SERVED BY GRANTING THE PETITION

Contrary to Petitioners' contentions, judicial economy will not be served by granting the Petition for Writ of Certiorari and allowing the interlocutory appeal to proceed. In arguing otherwise, Mr. von Herrmann mistakenly relies on *Ex parte Wilson*, 367 S.C. 7, 625 S.E.2d 205 (2005). Although the *Wilson* court did take the opportunity to clarify the procedure for discovery under Rule 69, SCRCF, it nevertheless "dismiss[ed] the appeal because the order quashing the

subpoena duces tecum [was] not immediately appealable.” *Wilson*, 367 S.C. at 16, 625 S.E.2d at 209.

Here, there is no procedure for the Court to clarify. Instead, it is clear that the trial court’s Orders, which are tantamount to orders directing discovery to proceed, are interlocutory and, therefore, they are not subject to immediate appeal. *See Wieters*, 381 S.C. at 332-33, 673 S.E.2d at 418. Consequently, the Court of Appeals correctly dismissed the interlocutory appeal, and Appellants’ Petition for Writ of Certiorari should be denied.

Finally, Mr. von Herrmann advocates that this Court immediately address the substantive issue as to whether attorneys who act in the representation of a client may be held liable for violation of the South Carolina Homeland Security Act, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 17-30-10, et seq.. In making this argument, Mr. von Herrmann misrepresents the status of the appeal of the Buchannon Action⁴.

Fulmer brought the Buchannon Action against Respondents herein and other Co-Defendants, including judge Melissa Buchannon. Accordingly, this Court may take judicial notice of the pleadings, jury verdict, and court orders issued in the Buchannon Action. *See* Rule 201(b), SCRE (“A judicially noticed fact must be one not subject to reasonable dispute in that it is either (1) generally known within the territorial jurisdiction of the trial court or (2) capable of accurate and ready determination by resort to sources whose accuracy cannot reasonably be questioned”); *Freeman v. McBee*, 280 S.C. 490, 494, 313 S.E.2d 325, 327 (Ct. App. 1984) (“A court can take judicial notice of its own records, files and proceedings for all proper purposes including facts established in its records”); *see also Lucht v. Youngblood*, 266 S.C. 127, 134, 221 S.E.2d 854, 858

⁴ *See* n.2, *supra*.

(1976) (“Generally, the prior pleadings in an action may be received in evidence against the pleader”).

Fulmer’s appeal in the Buchannon Action, which is presently pending before the South Carolina Court of Appeals, does not in any way question the jury’s verdict or damages award in favor of Respondent Anna Coggeshall on her Counterclaim against Fulmer for violation of the South Carolina Homeland Security Act. Rather, that appeal involves only the amount of attorney’s fees imposed against Fulmer.

Thus, it has been definitively determined that Fulmer violated the South Carolina Homeland Security Act by unlawfully intercepting and using text messages from Respondent Anna’s iWatch in the litigation. The only question that remains is whether Mr. von Herrmann and his law firm are equally liable under the Act for knowingly using the unlawfully intercepted text messages in the course of their legal representation of Fulmer.

Under the circumstances, Mr. von Herrmann’s suggestion that the disclosure in pretrial discovery of any attorney-client privileged and work-product doctrine material generated in the Buchannon Action would somehow harm Fulmer’s appeal is disingenuous at best. Instead, it is clear that Mr. von Herrmann seeks to avoid disclosure of this material in pretrial discovery because the material is likely adverse to his own interest. This is not a credible basis for the grant of a Petition for Writ of Certiorari to allow an interlocutory appeal of the matter.

In further contravention to Mr. von Herrmann’s contentions, no conflict exists between the trial court’s Orders and the Court of Appeals’ decision. This argument is apparently based on the Court of Appeals’ reference to *McLendon*. **Appx. 33.** In *McLendon*, this Court stated: “Like the denial of a motion for summary judgment, the denial of a motion to dismiss does not establish the

law of the case and the issue raised by the motion can be raised again at a later stage of the proceedings.” *McLendon*, 313 S.C. at 526 n.2, 443 S.E.2d at 540.

McLendon recites is a general rule of procedure. It does not address the applicability of the common-law doctrine of attorney immunity or the evidentiary attorney-client privilege. Because the language of the various Orders issued by the trial court and the Court of Appeals is consistent, the Orders must be construed together and harmonized. *First Nat’l Bank v. Iredell Land Co.*, 60 S.C. 306, 308, 38 S.E. 613, 614 (1901).

Finally, it may be noted that Respondents are confident that the substantive issues at stake in this case will ultimately be resolved in their favor, to wit, that the courts will conclude that attorneys are persons who are subject to the dictates of the South Carolina Homeland Security Act and that Mr. von Herrmann and his law firm are civilly liable for violation of the Act. Respondents, however, are content to have these issues resolved in due time and in the proper procedural manner. It is respectfully submitted that, at this early juncture, the Court should allow the case to proceed before the trial court so that the evidentiary record can be fully developed through pretrial discovery.

Conclusion

For the foregoing reasons, Appellants’ Petition for Writ of Certiorari should be denied.